

**National Farmers' Federation** 

Submission to the

**Regional Telecommunications Review** 

10 August 2018

#### **NFF Member Organisations** AUSTRALIAN FOREST PRODUCTS Australian **Dairy Farmers** TREES | WOOD | PAPER AGFORCE Australian Chicken Growers' Council Ltd Australian Livestock Exporters' Council LEC Pork MORT CORPORATE UNCIL AGRICULTURAL **OF AUSTRALIA** GROUP CANEGROWERS G **Future Farmers** Network driedfruits FARMERS FOR CLIMATE ACTION COTTON AUSTRALIA australia Grair Jrowers GrainCorp Real benefits. Real results. Gost Industry Council of Australia inc. 1 The Pastoralists' FARMERS Association of West Darling PRIMARY EMPLOYERS TASMANIA NEW SOUTH WALES IRRIGATORS' COUNCIL at ENC PRODUCERS **SoilsForLife** USTRALIA PRIMARY PRODUCERS SA RICEGROWERS' ASSOCIATION OF AUSTRALIA INC









**AUSTRALIA** 



The National Farmers' Federation (NFF) is the voice of Australian farmers.

The NFF was established in 1979 as the national peak body representing farmers and more broadly, agriculture across Australia. The NFF's membership comprises all of Australia's major agricultural commodities across the breadth and the length of the supply chain.

Operating under a federated structure, individual farmers join their respective state farm organisation and/or national commodity council. These organisations form the NFF.

The NFF represents Australian agriculture on national and foreign policy issues including workplace relations, trade and natural resource management. Our members complement this work through the delivery of direct 'grass roots' member services as well as state-based policy and commodity-specific interests.

# Contents

NFF Member Organisations	ii
Contents	4
Executive Summary	5
The potential of connected Agriculture	8
Regional Telecommunications Survey	8
A National Regional Telecommunications Strategy	10
Universal Service Guarantee	10
Mobile Coverage	14
Monitoring Regional Investment	16
Digital Literacy	16
The National Broadband Network	18

Recommendations

**Recommendation 1** 

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review notes that full connectivity of Australian agriculture can increase the Australian economy by \$24.6 billion.

### **Recommendation 2**

That the Australian Government commits to a National Strategy for Regional Telecommunications.

### **Recommendation 3**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review supports the enactment of the Telecommunications Reform Package as soon as possible.

### **Recommendation 4**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review asserts that alternative voice technologies must be proven effective and reliable beyond doubt before being considered as part of the future Universal Service Guarantee.

### **Recommendation 5**

That communication strategies are developed by industry and the Australian Government re-asserting that the rights under the current USO continue to be in force.

### **Recommendation 6**

That measures are undertaken by the Australian Government and telecommunications industry to ensure obligations under the current USO are actually met.

### **Recommendation 7**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review notes the important role small network operator play in the regional telecommunications landscape, and consider their future role in a Universal Service Guarantee.

### **Recommendation 8**

That the Australian Government commits to establishing a Rural Regional and Remote Telecommunications Research Fund.

### **Recommendation 9**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review, and consequently the Australian Government, considers the above options as part of future programs to expand regional mobile coverage.

Recommendation 10 That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review endorses the work of the ACCC in developing transparent and consistent information about mobile coverage.

### **Recommendation 11**

That Mobile Network Operators work with the ACCC to provide accurate mobile coverage mapping.

### **Recommendation 12**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review develops an ongoing mechanism for monitoring regional telecommunications investment.

#### **Recommendation 13**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review supports the development of a coinvested project that aims to increase the digital literacy of rural, regional and remote users.

### **Recommendation 14**

That future USG arrangements include mechanisms purely focused on regional telecommunications funding.

### **Recommendation 15**

That mechanisms for regional funding under a future USG are also imbedded in a National Regional Telecommunications Strategy.

## **Executive Summary**

The National Farmers' Federation (NFF) welcomes the opportunity to make a submission to the Regional Telecommunications Review 2018. We consider the review to be a critical mechanism to ensuring that regional communications remains a constant focus of governments and service providers. Holding the review every three years as is legislated is critical and it is vital that this continues.

Access to quality communications consistently ranks as one of, if not, the highest priority of our members.

To achieve NFF's vision of a \$100 billion dollar agricultural industry, the sector deserves welldeveloped initiatives and reforms that will assist public policy settings in fostering growth and productivity, establishing a new market of opportunity and championing innovation and ambition. This includes adequate connectivity in order to capture the next generation of farming technology.

Access to reliable, affordable, quality telecommunications underpins the viability of regional development and farming businesses across Australia. Allowing farming and regional families access to the digital economy through business development, education services and social connectivity is required if a region is to grow, improve and sustain.

The NFF is one of the founding organisations of the Rural, Regional and Remote Communications Coalition RRRC Coalition. NFF has joined the coalition as there is a critical mass of organisations, ranging from relatively established lobby groups through to fledgling volunteer interest groups, which are advocating on similar access and service quality issues for rural and regional telecommunications users.

The breadth and number of organisations involved highlights that telecommunications in the rural, regional and remote areas is critical. Regional communities continue to face difficulties in accessing affordable quality telecommunications.

The National Farmers Federation were delighted that Senator the Hon Bridget McKenzie saw fit to include Ms Kylie Stretton and Ms Johanna Plante, both representatives of the RRRCC on the review panel.

Reliable broadband and telephone services are not only essential for survival in the Australian bush, they are also crucial to the creation of new opportunities in agriculture. State-of-the-art tools such as Big Data and fast internet greatly increase on-farm productivity by enabling farmers to digitally analyse soil moisture, meteorological records and satellite imagery.

The rollout of the National Broadband Network (NBN) and the Mobile Blackspot Programme have significantly improved telecommunications in rural and regional Australia. However, the 2015 Regional Telecommunications Review established that there are currently still

communication infrastructure shortfalls in regional Australia, relating to limited coverage, poor data speeds and limited competition between different telecommunication carriers.

The NFF asserts that these shortfalls continue and that there is still much work to be done to ensure a truly connected agricultural sector and the regional communities that it supports.

# The potential of connected Agriculture

A recent collaborative research project, Precision to Decision: Accelerating Precision Agriculture to Decision Agriculture – Enabling Digital Agriculture in Australia found that:

"If decision agriculture was fully implemented it would deliver an estimated boost to the value of agriculture of 25% (\$20.3 billion) and lift the Australian economy by an estimated 1.5% (\$24.6 Billion)."

To put this statement in context, currently the Australian agricultural sector is valued at approximately \$60 billion. To put in another way, agriculture is currently only reaching 75% of the potential it could reach if it was enabled to fully participate in the digital economy.

It is often assumed that the key benefit of digital technologies for agriculture will be automation. While this will be a significant benefit for the sector, there are many more benefits for the sector such as:

- Real time monitoring of production which can lead to improvements in the quality of produce Australia's strength in global markets;
- ) Digitisation and transparency of supply chains will enable the transfer of information readily between transactions, and streamlined record-keeping for quality assurance purposes;
- J Improved traceability for biosecurity purposes; and
- Agritech start-ups that the benefit of being embedded in the operating environment that their product aims to service.

## **Recommendation 1**

# That this review notes that full connectivity of Australian agriculture can increase the Australian economy by \$24.6 billion.

## **Regional Telecommunications Survey**

In preparing this submission the NFF and its members conducted a survey. The survey received 750 responses and the outcomes of this survey have been used to inform examples throughout this submission. The NFF thanks its members for distributing the survey and also participants that have taken the time to respond.

The full survey results are <u>Attachment A</u> for reference. The key findings of the survey are as follows:

Cost of being connected

27% spend over \$400 per month on landline and mobile bundles.

- 50% spend between \$50 and \$99 per month solely on an internet connection
- ) 38% spend \$50 \$99 per month solely on maintaining their landline service

# Landline use

- 55% of respondent use their landline daily with business being the predominant purpose (75%)
- Critically, 39.4% reported using their landline for emergency situations
- ) 79% rely on their landline even though they have a mobile phone or internet connection
- ) When asked what would be their biggest requirement of any alternative voice technology reliability was the major theme.

# Internet use

- ) 49% of respondents were connected to the nbn 76% of these were connected via sky muster
- ) 30% believed their nbn connection had improved in the last three years 17% believed it has become worse
- ) 36% are somewhat satisfied by their nbn service
- ) Of those not connected to the nbn:
  - o 44% believe it is unavailable to them
  - o 32% connect to the internet via the 3G network

## Mobile voice

- 30% report constant mobile voice coverage on their farm
- 34% have installed antennas to improve their mobile coverage
- 39% report their mobile voice quality has stayed the same
- 32% report that it has got worse

## Mobile internet

- ) 33% report constant coverage on-farm
- *)* 88% use mobile data for business

## Internet use generally

- ) The top five tasks internet is used for are:
  - o Email (97%);
  - o Banking (92%);
  - Weather services (71%);
  - Commodity market reports and commodity trading platforms (72%)
  - o Social media (63%)

## **Digital Literacy**

- The biggest barrier to adopting new technologies is internet connection quality (69%)
- Most respondents learn to use technologies either by user experience (88%) or from their peers (82%)

# A National Regional Telecommunications Strategy

One of the perennial challenges of regional telecommunications is the need for a coordinated approach to regional telecommunications.

The NFF holds the view that regional telecommunications should not be a political issue and is an issue that require bipartisan support to be addressed meaningfully and sustainably.

As the mix of service technologies continues to grow to include landlines, nbn satellite, nbn and independent fixed wireless, mobile networks and potentially alternative voice technologies, it has become apparent to the NFF and its members that there is a need for a national strategy to ensure regional Australia, and particularly the Australian agricultural sector can have the services required to capitalise on their potential.

The NFF asserts that a key outcome of the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review is a commitment from the Australian Government to a National Strategy for Regional Telecommunications.

While it imperative we continue to review the state of regional telecommunications every three years, what is desperately need is a roadmap towards full connectivity, and the necessary steps that are needed to fulfil this vision.

The national strategy would be akin to a national policy statement with key deliverables for the implementation. The strategy would be a medium to long term vision for regional telecommunications and could help inform processes such as:

- ) the Universal Service Guarantee implementation;
- J programs that expand mobile coverage, such as the current Mobile Blackspots Program
- ) the potential rollout of alternative voice technologies;
- ) increasing digital literacy;
- ) recognising and ratifying the role of bespoke network providers; and
- ) Informing the regulatory frameworks that will create a conducive environment for technology adoption.

## **Recommendation 2**

That the Australian Government commits to a National Strategy for Regional Telecommunications.

## Universal Service Guarantee

The NFF acknowledges that the terms of reference for this review do not strictly extend to the consideration of a future Universal Service Guarantee (USG). However, the outcome of this reform process are going to be incredibly important to the future regional telecommunications landscape.

For many of our members, their telecommunications services would be deemed uncommercial unless the Universal Service Obligation was in place. This is a critical policy piece for Regional Telecommunications and one that must form a key consideration in the rollout of a national strategy.

The NFF welcomed the Australian Government's announcement in December 2017 that it would look to reform the current USO arrangements and transition to a Universal Service Guarantee to align with the completion of the nbn rollout.

The most positive aspect of this policy is the fact that high-speed broadband will be guaranteed service for Australians. However, there are a number of issues that need to be addressed, which is incumbent on the Regional Review Panel to consider, particularly:

- the future of voice services,
- ) ensuring current USO obligations are met,
- ) what role smaller bespoke network providers can play and
- ) the future funding arrangements of the USG.

Guaranteeing Broadband Services

The NFF has long held the view that all Australians have a right to access reliable broadband. To this end, the NFF has consistently advocated for a baseline broadband service to be part of the telecommunications Universal Service Obligation (USO).

The National Farmers' Federation (NFF) supports the Telecommunications Legislation Amendment (Competition and Consumer) Bill 2017 and the Telecommunications (Regional and Broadband Scheme) Charge Bill 2017 – collectively known as the Telecommunications Reform Package ("the reform package"). It is NFF's desire for the legislation to be enacted as soon as possible.

The NFF understands the reform package will guarantee access to data networks for all premises through the Statutory Infrastructure Provider (SIP). This is important as, while the mandate of the nbn to deliver broadband to all Australians, there has previously not been a statutory requirement to do so. In effect, this package will legally ensure all Australians will have access to broadband infrastructure.

In addition, NFF is pleased that the package contains a requirement that all premises must be able to access a network that is capable of offering a peak download speed of at least 25Mbps and an upload speed of 5Mbps. We are also keen to ensure that services and data allowances continue to evolve to the changing needs of consumers and the legislation must be flexible enough to reflect that.

The NFF is very supportive of the Regional Broadband Scheme (RBS) which we believe will ensure Regional services are funded sustainably and transparently. The idea behind the RBS is to sustainably fund the long term costs of uncommercial satellite and fixed wireless networks in rural, regional and remote Australia. The NFF seeks to temper any concerns that investment in uncommercial telecommunications infrastructure is potentially distortionary to competition. To simplify the rationale for investment to this extent is short-sighted and fails to consider long term economic benefit to the country – even from agricultural productivity alone. The NFF believes that both government and industry can collaboratively play a significant role in funding uncommercial infrastructure provided the framework is holistic and encompasses the suite of processes that are presently occurring in the telecommunication field. A levy is, in many ways, the most logical and equitable means of seeking an industry contribution.

### **Recommendation 3**

# That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review supports the enactment of the Telecommunications Reform Package as soon as possible.

## Ensuring reliable voice technologies

There remains much consternation about proposals for voice services to be transitioned to national broadband network (nbn) infrastructure. Much of this revolves around the fact that the sky muster satellite service remains currently too unreliable to be considered a meaningful alternative to copper landlines (nor was sky muster designed for voice services).

The NFF maintains that the current copper continuity obligation should be maintained as a transitionary measure until such a point in time that reliability of voice can be guaranteed via another means – whether this be via satellite or via other technologies.

However, beyond copper being an interim measure, this does raise a long term issue about maintaining a legacy technology should voice eventually transition to nbn's fibre and fixed wireless technologies.

It is clear that significant research into the reliability of alternatives to copper technology must be invested into, and invested into significantly. When all is said and done, rural regional and remote telecommunication users will rightfully question the reliability of new technology.

It is imperative that should the Australian Government move away from copper technology for voice services in the future, that the reliability of new alternative technologies must be proven beyond doubt. Voice services are literally a lifeline for many people – this lifeline must not be handled speculatively.

The NFF asserts that this is further basis for the development of a National Regional Telecommunications Strategy and the implementation of a Rural Regional and Remote Telecommunications Research Fund.

### **Recommendation 4**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review asserts that alternative voice technologies must be proven effective and reliable beyond doubt before being considered as part of the future Universal Service Guarantee.

Ensuring maintenance of existing USO arrangements

Following the announcement of the USG reform, one of the issues the NFF and its members have been managing is confusion about whether the current USO arrangements continue to be in place. Much of the confusion stems from a misunderstanding that the new USG arrangements are in place. Given the public discussion about the future of landlines that was associated with the USG announcement this has caused considerable anxiety.

The NFF has also received anecdotal representations concerned that investment and maintenance of existing USO services may begin to decrease as USG implementation nears.

The NFF considers that in the short-term efforts need to be made collectively by representative organisations, the telecommunications industry and governments to clarify that the USO remains very much in place, and these services will continue to be committed to until USG arrangements are agreed and implemented. It also remains incumbent on services to continue to maintain these services in the interim.

The NFF and the RRRCC have received anecdotal representations that the existing USO obligations are not being met, and that the industry focussed nature of the obligation allows the telecommunications industry to avoid penalty – eg if there is a mass disruption somewhere in Australia, Telstra is not obliged to meet the USO requirements.

## **Recommendation 5**

That communication strategies are developed by industry and the Australian Government re-asserting that the rights under the current USO continue to be in force.

## **Recommendation 6**

That measures are undertaken by the Australian Government and telecommunications industry to ensure obligations under the current USO are actually met.

## A future role for small network providers

The NFF is aware that is a growing network of companies offering small bespoke network solutions particularly in remote Australia. Quite often these providers enter the market because they offer low-key cost effective infrastructure solutions and extend the footprint of the existing network, by essentially piggy-backing off it.

There has been significant discussion recently given much of the spectrum these providers operate on has been earmarked for 5G. The NFF does not offer a view regarding the current 3.6 Hz spectrum allocation process.

However, the NFF does considers that, consistent with the need for a national strategy, policy makers should begin to turn their mind to whether these network providers can be better utilised, and their role preserved, in a future USG. This is particularly important given their capacity to extend existing network footprint thresholds through innovative and cost-effective solutions.

Incorporating these smaller player into broader strategic and policy considerations will have the added advantage of providing further competition into the regional market, but not at the expanse of infrastructure investment given their reliance on the existing network.

### **Recommendation 7**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review notes the important role small network operator play in the regional telecommunications landscape, and consider their future role in a Universal Service Guarantee.

### Future Funding arrangements for the USG

The Telstra Universal Service Obligation Performance Agreement (USO Agreement) sets out the scope of services to be performed by Telstra in delivering standard telephone services and payphone services under the USO. The agreement is in place until 2032.

Given the nbn is anticipated to be complete by 2020, presumably voice services would transition before 2032 when the current agreement is anticipated to be complete. This could potentially lead to a scenario where significant funding is being devoted to maintaining latent infrastructure. With this in mind the NFF strongly urges all parties to come to the table with a view to engaging in meaningful USO reform.

While the NFF acknowledges that that there are many outcomes and decisions that will affect any ultimate outcome around USO reform, the NFF proposes that the government commits to establishing a Rural Regional and Remote Telecommunications Research Fund. Given the Regional Broadband Scheme provides a sustainable funding mechanism for broadband (and potentially voice) infrastructure, the fund could be utilised for research and development into alternate telecommunications infrastructure and technology innovations.

Ideally, the Fund would be a combination of Australian Government, the telecommunications industry and rural, regional and remote stakeholders, collaborating to provide the best outcome for the end user. This fund would form part of the National Regional Telecommunications Strategy.

### **Recommendation 8**

# That the Australian Government commits to establishing a Rural Regional and Remote Telecommunications Research Fund.

### **Mobile Coverage**

### Increasing Mobile Coverage

Alongside access to high-speed broadband, increasing mobile coverage is a fundamental need for Australian agriculture. The recent ACCC inquiry into wholesale mobile roaming highlighted the need for solutions to expand mobile coverage.

Mobile coverage is vital to not only agricultural productivity, but also developing the sustainability of our regional communities.

The NFF has been a supporter of the mobile blackspots program since its inception. It was disappointing that a commitment to subsequent MBSP Rounds was not forthcoming in the 2017-18 Budget. However, we were delighted that a fourth round has been committed by the Australian Government from uncommitted funds.

The NFF is conscious that the construction pipeline for towers is considerable, as is the sheer scale of the program. The NFF is also conscious that in many areas coverage is encroaching on the commercial threshold of the development of farming enterprises. Further, given the seeming reluctance of telecommunication retail service providers to extend coverage at the pace at which rural consumers desire, the Federal Government's Mobile Black Spot Programme (MBSP) will be critical in facilitating this expansion of coverage.

While we are ardent supporters of the program, it is clear that the construct of the program will need to evolve. The NFF considers that some possible options for future program guidelines that should be considered include:

- A role for all three tiers of government in the process this will benefit not only the infrastructure planning process, but also offer greater autonomy for partnerships between communities, government and telecommunications companies.
- ) Stronger emphasis on community engagement in the application process.
- ) Greater emphasis on applications that prioritise infrastructure sharing.
- Scope to include smaller and more cost-effective infrastructure investments such as small cells.
- ) Opportunity for novel connectivity solutions such as those offered by small-scale bespoke network operators to have program funding available.
- ) Greater scope for the funding mix to be flexible depending on the critical need of the infrastructure and the strength of the application.

## **Recommendation 9**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review, and consequently the Australian Government, considers the above options as part of future programs to expand regional mobile coverage.

### Mobile Coverage and Accuracy

The Australian Competition and Consumer Commission's (ACCC's) Mobile Roaming Service Inquiry repeatedly emphasises that consumers in rural, regional and remote areas have a high rate of reliance on mobile and internet services, however connectivity is well below what is demanded by farm and regional businesses.

We note the ACCC's proposed action of approaching industry directly to develop more transparent and consistent information about networks and services as well as metrics to ascertain tower performance. We are very supportive of this measure and look forward to timely progress by mobile network operators (MNO).

There are two particular reasons why accuracy of mobile coverage is important:

- Regional consumers, just like any other consumer, have a right to purchase products that are fit for purpose; and
- ) In a strategic sense, accurate information is needed to inform communities and governments of coverage needs and how best to address those needs.

### **Recommendation 10**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review endorses the work of the ACCC in developing transparent and consistent information about mobile coverage.

# Recommendation 11 That Mobile Network Operators work with the ACCC to provide accurate mobile coverage mapping.

### Monitoring Regional Investment

One of the great frustrations for NFF's members is the lack of accountability currently in place to track network investment announcements in regional Australia. Investment announcements are eagerly anticipated and welcomed by the NFF and its members.

While we acknowledge market disclosure mechanisms within the ASX notionally prevent misleading information entering the market, the NFF would endorse mechanisms that report directly to regional consumers on investment progress.

Ideally, this mechanism would become part of the national strategy.

### **Recommendation 12**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review develops an ongoing mechanism for monitoring regional telecommunications investment.

### **Digital Literacy**

One of the fundamental principles of the agricultural sector adopting digital technologies, is ensuring that people within the sector have the adequate skills and understanding of technologies that are available to them.

There are a number of studies that point to a lack of basic understanding of various ways to connect can be an inhibitor to technology adoption. There is a desperate need for digital literacy targeted at farmers that can assist them to navigate through the basic connection level phase of installation, and carry them through to understanding the capabilities of their connections and adopting new technologies.

The NFF believes that as connectivity improves, there is a burgeoning market for adaptive technologies with significant potential for organic growth – however this market must be fostered.

Across the agricultural sector there exists a considerable network of extension capability that assists farmers with implementing on-farm research and development. There is significant potential to leverage this network and introduce a digital element to the application of on-farm innovations. The findings of the NFF survey support such an approach as the survey indicated most farmers increase their knowledge from peer-to-peer learning.

A co-investment model involving funding from the Australian Government, telecommunications industry and agriculture would represent a workable model going forward.

For the information of the Review Committee, the NFF has been involved in two industry-led initiatives aimed at increasing digital literacy amongst farmers:

- ) The NFF has entered into a formal partnership arrangement with nbn which aims to utilise the NFF's AustralianFarmers Digital Platform to share content about how best to utilise the nbn and to share the potential the nbn offers.
- ) AgForce Queensland, with the support of NFF and members of the RRRCC developed a Telecommunications Innovation Project (TIP) in an effort to bridge the digital divide and build digital literacy. The aims of the TIP are:
  - to relieve, improve and expand the services of Better Internet for Rural, Regional and Remote Australia (BIRRR) volunteers to strengthen telecommunications service provision to RRR Australians;
  - to provide an industry contact for RRR residents who have challenges using telecommunications;
  - to centralise issues identification and problem solving, and facilitate knowledge sharing across stakeholders, geographical areas and industries; and
  - to maximise use of existing resources of service providers/government and only fill genuine gaps.
  - In order to achieve the aims of the project, there would be a focus on:
    - identifying barriers to, and constraints of, RRR telecommunications usability;
    - connecting RRR Australians with people who can help them resolve telecoms technical issues;
    - empowering users to understand their telecommunications needs and options;
    - collaborating with users and providers to devise solutions for improving business and social outcomes;
    - Sharing these learnings across stakeholders and industries.

Investment in the TIP has not been secured, despite both Government and industry being offered the opportunity to collaborate with industry on this project.

# **Recommendation 13**

That the 2018 Regional Telecommunications Review supports the development of a coinvested project that aims to increase the digital literacy of rural, regional and remote users.

# The National Broadband Network

## Rollout Concerns

It is fair to say that for a number of consumers the rollout has not been 'seamless'. From understanding how and when they will be affected, to choosing providers and plans, arranging connection, overcoming difficulties of complex connections using the service, to finding causes and solutions to faults and outages; the span of issues is vast.

Particular to the rollout of the NBN has been the challenge of many issues 'falling between the cracks' of NBN Co, hardware installers, and internet service providers. It is often quite difficult for an individual user to ascertain whether the issue they are facing is one from NBN Co or the retail service provider, and the lack of a single contact point to assist differentiate makes the process to achieve connectivity a frustration for many.

There has been a Senate inquiry into the rollout of the NBN, which both NFF, RRRCC and member organisations presented to, and the NFF is focussed on the ongoing NBN connections and packages.

The majority of NFF's members will be connected to the NBN either by fixed wireless or Sky muster services. Feedback to NFF generally suggests that fixed wireless users have had a positive experience with good reliability of service, but unfortunately many Sky muster users have had highly varied experiences. However attitudes towards Sky muster are shifting as more and more people become connected and begin to utilise it to its potential, including cloud computing and videoconferencing. Frustration at the limited footprint of the fixed wireless network has been evident, and has resulted in Wireless Internet Service Providers (WISPs) filling the 'gap' for some.

It is unfortunately the case that some users have disconnected Sky muster and gone back to their previous arrangement (such as wireless internet from one of the major telecommunications companies) for internet services due to a poor user experience.

Anecdotal feedback from Sky muster customers also indicates that internet speeds can vary dramatically, some service providers have not been able to establish and/or connect to VoIP services, and connections can often drop out.

It must be acknowledged that NBN has made considerable efforts and taken many positive steps to engage the sector given the issues that have been encountered during the Sky muster rollout and have undertaken taken to work through issues as they arise. Examples of measures that have been welcomed by the NFF include:

- *)* The introduction of nbn local;
- J Increasing the monthly data packages available;
- ) Establishing a regionally focused landing page for regional customers which addresses common regional connection issues such as non-standard installations; and
- Plans to introduce business satellite services as a commercial product for rural regional and remote businesses.

# **Future Funding for Regional Telecommunications**

Of course one of the critical answers that must be answered in seeking to improve regional telecommunications is – how do you pay for it and who pays for it?

We are cognisant that solutions cost - and in the instance of regional telecommunications the cost are dramatic.

The NFF notes there are a number of funding mechanisms already in place or soon to be in place, including:

- ) The current industry/government co-funding arrangements for the USO;
- ) The Australian Government's investment to construct the nbn;
- ) The mobile blackspots program for funding mobile infrastructure; and
- ) The Regional Broadband scheme will provide a mechanism for funding uncommercial high-speed broadband infrastructure.

As we enter into a paradigm where future USG arrangements are being developed, the nbn rollout is completed and the construct of programs for expanding mobile coverage are revised, it is timely for the future architecture of regional telecommunications funding is considered to ensure that funding is coordinated and as efficient as possible. The NFF proposes that future USG arrangements includes a proportion of funding that is purely for regional telecommunications, and the spending of which is guided by pre-eminent trustees that have expertise in regional telecommunications infrastructure.

A National Strategy for Regional Telecommunications would be the appropriate vehicle to imbed such a mechanism.

## **Recommendation 14**

That future USG arrangements include mechanisms purely focused on regional telecommunications funding.

## **Recommendation 15**

That mechanisms for regional funding under a future USG are also imbedded in a National Regional Telecommunications Strategy.